

Copyright © 2012 by American Scientific Publishers All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America Journal of Neuroscience and Neuroengineering Vol. 1, pp. 1–9, 2012 (www.aspbs.com/jnsne)

Overview of on-Chip Stimulator Designs for Biomedical Applications

Chun-Yu Lin and Ming-Dou Ker*

¹Institute of Electronics, National Chiao Tung University, Taiwan

²Biomedical Electronics Translational Research Center, National Chiao Tung University, Taiwan

In recent years, the electrical stimulations have been used for biomedical applications, such as cardiac pacemaker, cochlear implant, muscle exercising, vision restoration, and seizure suppression. Comparing with the traditional treatments by using medicine or surgery, the electrical stimulation was more harmless, flexible, recoverable, and less-destructive. Moreover, with the potential for mass production, CMOS integrated circuits have been designed to implement the electrical stimulators. A comprehensive overview in the field of integrated circuit design for implantable stimulator was presented in this paper. Some basic topologies of output driver designs for implantable stimulators were reviewed. Some advanced techniques based on the reviewed designs to improve the performances were also presented. Since the safety and reliability are the primary concerns when realized the biomedical electronic devices, the on-chip stimulator designs for biomedical applications will continuously be an important design task in advanced CMOS technologies.

KEYWORDS: Electrical Stimulation, Implantable Device, Integrated Circuit, Stimulator.

CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Impedance of Electrode and Tissue	2
Monopolar and Bipolar Stimulators	2
Basic Topologies of Output Driver Designs	3
Current-Mode DAC	4
Current-Mode DAC with Current Mirror	4
DAC with Voltage-Controlled Resistor	5
Voltage-Mode DAC with Voltage Follower	6
Voltage-Mode-DAC-Controlled Resistor with	
Voltage Follower	6
Advanced Techniques of Output Driver Designs	6
Fail-Safe Design with High-Frequency Current-Switching	7
Avoiding Charge Accumulation Without	
Blocking Capacitor	7
Low Power	7
High-Voltage Tolerance	8
Conclusion	8
Acknowledgments	8
References and Notes	8

INTRODUCTION

As medical science and electronics engineering evolving, bioelectronics combined the microelectronics technology with medicine knowledge results in a new generation of healthcare and therapy. In recent decades, the inseparable

J. Neurosci. Neuroeng. 2012, Vol. 1, No. 2

relationship between electrical transaction and nervous system has been studied [1]. The electrical stimulation that transmitted artificial electrical signals into nervous system has been verified for innovative medical treatments, including the therapeutic electrical stimulation (TES) and the functional electrical stimulation (FES) [2–4]. The electrical stimulations have been successfully used in a large set of applications, such as cardiac pacemaker, cochlear implant, muscle exercising, vision restoration, and seizure suppression. Comparing with the traditional treatments by using medicine or surgery, the electrical stimulation is more harmless, flexible, recoverable, and less-destructive [5, 6].

Figure 1 shows a general block diagram for the stimulator. In this case, it consists of a power supply, a digital-toanalog converter (DAC), and an output driver. The DAC can achieve good control of the stimulus current amplitude, depending on the number of bits of the DAC.

Safety is the primary consideration in the electrical stimulation [7, 8]. First of the safety issue is the instantaneous electrical shock due to the high charge injection within short time period. Second of the safety issue is the limitation on current injection density. Third of the safety issue is the continuous charge accumulation from the imbalanced biphasic stimulation. Generally, the rectified power for the stimulation is constrained, so the instantaneous electrical shock is preventable because of limited intensity of the injection current level. The limitation on current injection density and the charge accumulation issue should be considered during circuit design to prevent

1

^{*}Author to whom correspondence should be addressed. Email: mdker@ieee.org Received: 15 June 2012 Accepted: 22 August 2012

from the electrolysis with electrode dissolution and tissue destruction.

IMPEDANCE OF ELECTRODE AND TISSUE

In Figure 2, the equivalent circuit model of the electrode and tissue is described [9, 10]. The spreading resistance (R_s) represents the combination of the tissue, the electrode conductor, and the electrode-wire contact. The electrodetissue interface capacitance (C_i) represents the capacitance of the double layer interface, and the electrode-tissue interface resistance (R_i) represents the Faradaic resistance which conducts reduction and oxidation currents in electrochemical equilibrium. For the implantable stimulations, the R_s is usually in the order of 1 k Ω ~100 k Ω , the C_i is usually in the order of 10 nF~1000 nF, and the R_i is usually higher than 1 M Ω [11].

MONOPOLAR AND BIPOLAR STIMULATORS

Some fundamental biophysical analyses of excitable membrane properties have used monophasic stimulation in order to simplify interpretation of the results [12, 13]. However, the monophasic stimulation can be safely used only during short pulses and at low intensities [14]. Using the biphasic stimulation could avoid charge accumulation in tissues. Figure 3 compares the stimulus current (I_{stim}) waveforms of the monophasic and biphasic stimulation.

The biphasic stimulation can be arranged with different positive and negative current, as shown in Figure 4 [15, 16]. The $+I_1$ and $-I_2$ denote the amplitude of positive and negative current, respectively, and the t_1 and t_2 denote the duration of positive and negative current, respectively. As shown in Figure 4(a), the smaller I_2 with longer duration follows the larger I_1 . On the contrary, Figure 4(b)

REVIEW



Chun-Yu Lin received the B.S. degree from the Department of Electronics Engineering, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan, in 2006 and the Ph.D. degree from the Institute of Electronics, National Chiao Tung University, in 2009. Since 2009, he has been a Postdoctoral Researcher with the Institute of Electronics, National Chiao Tung University. His current research interests include electrostatic discharge protection designs and biomimetic circuit designs. Dr. Lin has served as the Secretary-General of Taiwan ESD Association since 2010.



Ming-Dou Ker received the Ph.D. degree from the Institute of Electronics, National Chiao-Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan, in 1993. He ever worked as the Department Manager with the VLSI Design Division, Computer and Communication Research Laboratories, Industrial Technology Research Institute (ITRI), Hsinchu, Taiwan. Since 2004, he has been a Full Professor with the Department of Electronics Engineering, National Chiao-Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan. During 2008~2011, he was rotated to be Vice President of I-Shou University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan. Now, he has been the Distinguished Professor in the Department of Electronics Engineering, National Chiao-Tung University, Taiwan. He ever served as the Executive Director of National Science and Technology Program on System-on-Chip (NSoC) in Taiwan during 2010~2011; and currently serving as the Executive Director of National Science and Technology (NPNT) in Taiwan

(2011~2014). In the technical field of reliability and quality design for microelectronic circuits and systems, he has published over 450 technical papers in international journals and conferences. He has proposed many solutions to improve the reliability and quality of integrated circuits, which have been granted with hundreds of U.S. patents and Taiwan patents. He had been invited to teach and/or to consult the reliability and quality design for integrated circuits by hundreds of design houses and semiconductor companies in the worldwide IC industry. His current research interests include reliability and quality design for nanoelectronics and gigascale systems, circuits and systems for information display, as well as the biomimetic circuits and systems for biomedical applications. Professor Ker has served as member of the Technical Program Committee and the Session Chair of numerous international conferences for many years. He ever served as the Associate Editor for the *IEEE Transactions on VLSI Systems*, 2006–2007. He was selected as the *Distinguished Lecturer* in the IEEE Circuits and Systems Society (2006–2007) and in the IEEE Electron Devices Society (2008–2012). He was the Founding President of Taiwan ESD Association. Currently, he is the Editor of *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*. Since 2012, he has been the Dean of the College of Photonics, National Chiao-Tung University, Taiwan.



Fig. 1. Block diagram of electrical stimulator.



Fig. 2. Equivalent circuit model of electrode and tissue.

shows the smaller I_1 with larger I_2 . Once $I_1 \times t_1 - I_2 \times t_2 = 0$, the charge can be balanced without accumulation. With the lower amplitude of positive or negative current, the advantages may include the smooth transition and minimizing charge buildup and spiking. Besides, the circuit design of stimulator may be simplified, since the high current/voltage part can be reduced. If the negative high voltage is needed in the integrated circuits, the challenges include the substrate leakage and reliability issues [17].

To realize the biphasic stimulation, the commonly used configurations of monopolar and bipolar stimulators are shown in Figures 5 and 6 [11, 18]. In Figure 5, the monopolar stimulator utilizes the dual supply voltages $(V_{DD} \text{ and } V_{SS})$ with anodic and cathodic output drivers to deliver anodic and cathodic stimulus currents. In Figure 6, the bipolar stimulator utilizes the single supply voltage (V_{DD}) with single output driver from V_{DD} or ground. The anodic and cathodic stimulus currents of the bipolar stimulator are generated by reversing the current paths using switches. The monopolar stimulation is preferred over a bipolar counterpart if the current is intended to spread over



Fig. 3. Current waveforms of (a) monophasic stimulation and (b) biphasic stimulation.



Fig. 4. Current waveforms of different biphasic, charge-balanced stimulation.



Fig. 5. Monopolar configuration with anodic and cathodic output drivers for biphasic stimulation.

a wider area, and the monopolar stimulation is usually more efficient than the bipolar stimulation [19]. On the other hand, in the simultaneous stimulation using electrode arrays, the bipolar stimulation is preferred to monopolar stimulation, as the former can reduce crosstalk among neighboring sites [20].

BASIC TOPOLOGIES OF OUTPUT DRIVER DESIGNS

Several output driver designs for implantable stimulators have been reported in the literature. The output currents vary from several μA to several mA, depending on the application. The design considerations of the output driver for on-chip stimulator include high output impedance, good linearity, low power consumption, and small silicon



Fig. 6. Bipolar configuration with output driver of (a) current source and (b) current sink, for biphasic stimulation.

area. Some output driver designs for on-chip stimulator are reviewed in following sections. These output drivers are shown with p type to perform a current source. Besides, they can be used with n type to perform a current sink.

Current-Mode DAC

A current-mode DAC can be used to output the stimulus current, as shown in Figure 7 [21–26]. The current-mode DAC is usually composed of binary-weighted transistors which gates are connected to a common bias voltage. It is also possible to employ identical transistors with binary-weighted bias voltages.

In Ref. [21], the bidirectional DAC enabled by the binary coded amplitude is reported. The DAC output range can be scaled by the controllable aspect ratio of the mirrors' inputs. This design presents both high output impedance and large output voltage compliance.

In Refs. [22] and [23], the stimulator consists of the complementary DAC to perform the biphasic stimulation. Each current source consists of several pairs of serially connected MOS current regulators and MOS injection switches. The stimulus current can be controlled by the current regulators to be different current values. In Ref. [24], additional pair of polarity switches is added to select the positive or negative DAC output to achieve monopolar biphasic stimulation.

To maintain the stability and linearity of the stimulus current, the thermometer code scheme with small glitch error is employed in the DAC design in Ref. [25]. In this design, the stimulus current of DAC can be varied in 256 different levels ranging from 0 to 1 mA.

In Ref. [26], the stimulator is based on a 4-bit binaryweighted DAC. The biases for the current source and cascode transistors in DAC are provided by a wideswing cascade bias circuit such that the required supplyvoltage overhead is minimized. The cascode transistors also improve the output impedance and linearity of control.

Current-Mode DAC with Current Mirror

The current-mode DAC with a current mirror is another way to duplicate the source current to the stimulus current,



Fig. 7. Output driver implemented by current-mode DAC.

as shown in Figure 8 [27–30]. This design works properly as long as all transistors are kept in the saturation region. The output impedance of the DAC with current mirror can be higher than that of the stand-alone DAC, which is better for biomedical microstimulation applications. However, both source current and stimulus current consume power from the supply.

In Ref. [27], the stimulus current is mirrored from the DAC through an operational amplifier, while in Refs. [28] and [29], the output driver consists of a current source, bias circuit, and current mirror to constantly deliver the stimulus current. The output driver in Ref. [30] further consists of an exponential current mirror to produce the flexible exponential stimulus current.

To perform the better output impedance, the DAC with a fully cascode current mirror has been reported, as shown in Figure 9 [31, 32]. The fully cascode current mirror increases the output resistance by a factor of $g_m r_o$, where g_m and r_o are the transconductance and output resistance of a transistor, respectively.

The designs using current steering DAC with the fully cascode current mirror have been reported in Refs. [31]



Fig. 8. Output driver implemented by current-mode DAC with current mirror.



Fig. 9. Output driver implemented by current-mode DAC with fully cascode current mirror.

J. Neurosci. Neuroeng., 1, 1–9, 2012

and [32]. The supply voltages of these circuits are usually higher, and the transistors are high-voltage transistors to allow sufficiently high compliance. Some low-voltage transistors can be used with high-voltage transistors to reduce mismatch of current gain and save some chip area.

The DAC with a wide swing cascode current mirror is shown in Figure 10 [33, 34]. In this design, the required supply-voltage overhead can be minimized. In other words, the wide-swing cascode current mirror is used to achieve maximum stimulus current per supply voltage while maintaining transistors operating in the saturation region. This method reduces the power consumed by the headroom. In Ref. [33], the minimum allowable headroom for the output driver with wide-swing cascode current mirror decreases to about 1 V, while that with the conventional current mirror is about 2.5 V. However, the output driver with wide-swing cascode current mirror requires more chip area due to the routing overhead of the additional bias potentials.

The output driver consists of an output cascode transistor and current mirror assisted with the DAC is shown in Figure 11 [16]. The additional output cascode transistor can be further designed as electrostatic discharge (ESD)



Fig. 10. Output driver implemented by current-mode DAC with wideswing cascode current mirror.



Fig. 11. Output driver implemented by current-mode DAC with output cascode transistor and current mirror.



Fig. 12. Output driver implemented by DAC with voltage-controlled resistor.

protection device. By connecting the body terminals of PMOS and NMOS to the power supply rails, the ESD protection can be achieved by using the parasitic drain-body diodes of transistors.

DAC with Voltage-Controlled Resistor

A stimulator based on the DAC and a voltage-controlled resistor has been presented, as shown in Figure 12 [35]. It is used to increase the output impedance by biasing the transistor with active feedback. The DAC delivers the stimulus current to Z_L through the voltage-controlled resistor. The voltage-controlled resistor is implemented by a MOS transistor with an operating amplifier. When the V_{bias} is small, the transistor of voltage-controlled resistor operates in deep triode region and represents a linear resistor between the drain-source terminals. With the implementation of DAC with voltage-controlled resistor, the DAC output is used to bias the transistor to generate the stimulus current. This configuration yields the output driver with small voltage compliance.

Another current-mode DAC with the current mirror and additional voltage-controlled resistor has been reported, as shown in Figure 13 [36, 37]. The voltage-controlled resistor is implemented by a MOS transistor with the active-feedback operating amplifier. The operating amplifier locks the drain voltages of two transistors used in current mirror, which makes the stimulus current proportional to the source current. The output impedance of this design is much higher than that of the current mirror only. The active feedback current mirror also minimizes the voltage headroom requirement for the current mirror. As reported in Ref. [36], the output voltage is 6 V and the supply voltage is 6.5 V.



Fig. 13. Output driver implemented by DAC with current mirror and voltage-controlled resistor.

Voltage-Mode DAC with Voltage Follower

The stimulator by using a voltage-mode DAC with voltage follower to bias a fixed resistor is shown in Figure 14. The voltage-follower is implemented by a negative feedback operating amplifier and MOS transistor. The input of the voltage follower is controlled by the DAC, which is also the bias voltage across the resistor. The stimulus current is V_{DAC}/R , where V_{DAC} is the output voltage of DAC and *R* is the resistance. The stimulus current can be controlled by changing the DAC output voltage. Once the DAC output voltage has been chosen, the voltage across the resistor is kept constant by a negative feedback. If the gain of operating amplifier and the size of transistor are large enough, the voltage compliance of this circuit can be very high.

A similar method using a voltage-mode DAC with voltage follower to bias an active load is shown in Figure 15 [32]. It is the best choice for implementing the load resistance in CMOS technology by using a MOS transistor biased in deep triode region. The active load of MOS transistor is controlled by a bias voltage. By changing the bias voltage within a fixed range, this circuit can obtain small changes on the resistance of the active load.

Voltage-Mode-DAC-Controlled Resistor with Voltage Follower

As shown in Section 4.4, controlling the output driver by changing the resistance is another way to generate the stimulus current. A voltage-controlled resistor with a constant bias will also act the output driver, as shown in Figure 16 [38, 39]. Controlled by the DAC output, the voltage-controlled resistor is implemented by a MOS transistor in the triode region. As long as the MOS transistor is kept in the triode region, the stimulus current in this circuit will be proportional to the DAC output voltage. This



Fig. 14. Output driver implemented by voltage-mode DAC with voltage follower.



Fig. 15. Output driver implemented by voltage-mode DAC with voltage follower and active load.

configuration yields the output driver with small voltage compliance.

A stimulator based on this topology has been present in Refs. [38] and [39] to support multiple stimulating sites. The voltage-mode-DAC-controlled MOS transistor in deep triode region is used as linearized voltagecontrolled resistor. The stimulus current is controlled by the MOS gate voltage, which is digitally programmable by the voltage-mode DAC. In this design, the high output impedance can keep the stimulus current constant.

ADVANCED TECHNIQUES OF OUTPUT DRIVER DESIGNS

The reported output driver designs for implantable stimulators have been reviewed in previous section, which can provide the information for circuit designers to design the suitable stimulator. The different applications have different requirements on stimulus current, output





Fig. 16. Output driver implemented by voltage-mode-DAC-controlled resistor with voltage follower.

impedance, power consumption, and other specifications for the designs.

Some advanced techniques based on the reviewed designs have also been reported to improve the performances, such as fail safe, avoiding charge accumulation, low power, and high-voltage tolerance.

Fail-Safe Design with High-Frequency Current-Switching

For safety consideration, the blocking capacitor of output stage in series with the electrode serves the purpose to prevent from prolonged dc current flowing into the tissue in the event of semiconductor failure. The required blocking capacitance can be calculated as $I_{\text{stim}} \times dt/dV$, where $I_{\rm stim}$ denotes the stimulus current, dt denotes the stimulation duration, and dV denotes the variation of voltage across the load. In order to output the stimulus current with the required duration, the size of blocking capacitor would be too large to be integrated into a chip. For example, a stimulation with 30- μ A current and 0.5-ms duration on 20-k Ω load, the required blocking capacitance is ~0.2 μ F to keep the stimulus current within 10% variation [28]. In order to solve the problem of large-sized blocking capacitor, a technique of high-frequency current-switching has been studied to reduce the size of blocking capacitor, as shown in Figure 17 [35, 40]. For a given stimulus current, the reduction of duration (dt) can also reduce the required size of blocking capacitor. The technique of highfrequency current-switching utilizes two complementary output drivers with blocking capacitors. The complementary stimulus currents (I_{stim1} and I_{stim2}) converge and form a complete stimulus current $(I_{\text{stim}} = I_{\text{stim1}} + I_{\text{stim2}})$. Thus, each stimulation duration is reduced, while the stimulus current and the variation of voltage across the load are not changed. The reduction ratio of blocking capacitor can be designed according to the switching frequency.



Overview of on-Chip Stimulator Designs for Biomedical Applications

Fig. 17. Stimulator with fail-safe blocking capacitors realized by using high-frequency current-switching technique.

Avoiding Charge Accumulation Without Blocking Capacitor

The charge accumulation caused by the dc leakage current or by the mismatch during biphasic stimulation will result in undesirable effects to the tissue. Besides adding the blocking capacitor to block the dc leakage current, an alternative method for avoiding the charge accumulation in the tissue is to use a charge cancellation switch, as shown in Figure 18 [31]. When the charge cancellation switch turns on, it provides the current path to ground. Therefore, the leakage current or the mismatched charge will be bypassed to ground, and the charge will not accumulate in the tissue.

Low Power

The required operating voltage of output driver is $V_R + V_C$, where V_R denotes the voltage across the resistive load $(I_{\text{stim}} \times R)$, and V_C denotes the voltage across the capacitive load $(I_{\text{stim}}/C \times \int dt)$. It is obvious that the operating voltage can be adjusted due to the changing voltage across the capacitive load. If the operating voltage of output driver keeps constant during stimulation, some power will be wasted. To eliminate the wasted power, the output driver can be designed whose voltage tracks the back voltage on the electrode, as shown in Figure 19 [29, 41, 42]. This output driver will have virtually no wasted power dissipation. Comparing the constant operating voltage with the adjustable operating voltage, the power consumption of the design with adjustable operating voltage can be reduced.

To Output Driver

Fig. 18. Stimulator with charge cancellation to avoiding charge accumulation.



Fig. 19. Stimulator with low power design.



Fig. 20. Stimulator with high-voltage tolerance by using stacked transistors.

High-Voltage Tolerance

With the potential for mass production, low-voltage CMOS technologies have been used to implement the integrated circuits for biomedical applications. The gate-oxide thickness of MOS transistor has been shrunk to improve circuit performance and operating speed in advanced CMOS technologies. In addition, the power supply voltage in CMOS integrated circuits has also been scaled down to follow the constant-field scaling requirement and to reduce power consumption. However, the stimulator with low-voltages devices must deliver the stimulus current with high voltage across the load. The high-voltage CMOS technologies to prevent from the reliability issues, such as electrical overstress on gate oxide.

The stacked MOS configuration has been reported to allow high voltage across the output driver, as shown in Figure 20 [36, 43]. For example, the design with four 1.8-V transistors can safely operate up to 7.2 V. The highvoltage-tolerant design can be further integrated for an electronic prosthetic system-on-chip (SoC).

CONCLUSION

A comprehensive overview in the field of integrated circuit design for implantable stimulator is presented. The power supply, DAC, and output driver are generally used Lin and Ker

to construct the electrical stimulators. Some basic topologies of output driver designs have been presented. Besides, some advanced techniques of output driver designs have also been presented to improve the performances. Since the safety and reliability are the primary concerns when realized the biomedical electronic devices, the on-chip stimulator designs for biomedical applications will continuously be an important design task in advanced CMOS technologies.

Acknowledgments: This work was supported by National Science Council (NSC), Taiwan, under Contract of NSC 101-2220-E-009-020, and by the "Aim for the Top University Plan" of National Chiao Tung University and Ministry of Education, Taiwan.

References and Notes

- S. Cantor and S. Cantor, Physiological description of the neuron and the human nervous system, *Proc. IEEE Int. Frequency Control Symp.* (1995), pp. 3–9.
- F. Soulier, S. Bernard, G. Cathebras, and D. Guiraud, Advances in implanted functional electrical stimulation, *Proc. Int. Conf. Design* & *Technology of Integrated Systems in Nanoscale Era* (2011).
- C. Lynch and M. Popovic, Functional electrical stimulation. *IEEE Control Systems Magazine* 28, 40 (2008).
- J. Haslam and J. Laycock, Therapeutic Management of Incontinence and Pelvic Pain: Pelvic Organ Disorders, Springer (2007).
- 5. K. Taber, R. Hurley, and S. Yudofsky, Diagnosis and treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders. *Annual Review of Medicine* 61, 121 (2010).
- J. Sebeo, S. Deiner, R. Alterman, and I. Osborn, Anesthesia for pediatric deep brain stimulation. *Anesthesiology Research and Practice* (2010).
- 7. D. Panescu, Design and medical safety of neuromuscular incapacitation devices. *IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazine* 26, 57 (2007).
- **8.** R. Testerman, M. Rise, and P. Stypulkowski, Electrical stimulation as therapy for neurological disorders. *IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazine* 25, 74 (2006).
- **9.** W. Franks, I. Schenker, P. Schmutz, and A. Hierlemann, Impedance characterization and modeling of electrodes for biomedical applications. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Engineering* 52, 1295 (**2005**).
- A. Uranga, J. Sacristán, T. Oses, and N. Barniol, Electrodetissue impedance measurement CMOS ASIC for functional electrical stimulation neuroprostheses, *IEEE Trans. Instrumentation and Measurement* 56, 2043 (2007).
- H. Chun, T. Lehmann, and Y. Yang, Implantable stimulator for bipolar stimulation without charge balancing circuits, *Proc. IEEE Biomedical Circuits and Systems Conf.* (2010), pp. 202–205.
- **12.** J. Rubinstein, C. Miller, H. Mino, and P. Abbas, Analysis of monophasic and biphasic electrical stimulation of nerve. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Engineering* 48, 1065 (**2001**).
- C. Young, S. Liang, D. Chang, Y. Liao, F. Shaw, and C. Hsieh, A portable wireless online closed-loop seizure controller in freely moving rats. *IEEE Trans. Instrumentation and Measurement* 60, 513 (2011).
- 14. B. Piallat, S. Chabardes, A. Devergnas, N. Torres, M. Allain, E. Barrat, and A. Benabid, Monophasic but not biphasic pulses induce brain tissue damage during monopolar high-frequency deep brain stimulation. *Neurosurgery* 64, 156 (2009).

- **15.** T. Constandinou, J. Georgiou, and C. Toumazou, A partial-currentsteering biphasic stimulation driver for vestibular prostheses. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 2, 106 (**2008**).
- M. Ortmanns, A. Rocke, M. Gehrke, and H. Tiedtke, A 232-channel epiretinal stimulator ASIC. *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits* 42, 2946 (2007).
- Y.-C. Huang, M.-D. Ker, and C.-Y. Lin, Design of negative high voltage generator for biphasic stimulator with SoC integration consideration, *Proc. IEEE Biomedical Circuits and Systems Conf.* (2012), in press.
- S. Guo and H. Lee, Biphasic-current-pulse self-calibration techniques for monopolar current stimulation, *Proc. IEEE Biomedical Circuits and Systems Conf.* (2009), pp. 61–64.
- M. Gerhardt, G. Groeger, and N. MacCarthy, Monopolar versus bipolar subretinal stimulation—an *in vitro* study. *J. Neuroscience Methods* 199, 26 (2011).
- 20. Y. Wong, N. Dommel, P. Preston, L. Hallum, T. Lehmann, N. Lovell, and G. Suaning, Retinal neurostimulator for a multifocal vision prosthesis. *IEEE Trans. Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering* 15, 425 (2007).
- J. Coulombe, M. Sawan, and J. Gervais, A highly flexible system for microstimulation of the visual cortex: Design and implementation. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 1, 258 (2007).
- 22. T. Tokuda, K. Hiyama, S. Sawamura, K. Sasagawa, Y. Terasawa, K. Nishida, Y. Kitaguchi, T. Fujikado, Y. Tano, and J. Ohta, CMOS-based multichip networked flexible retinal stimulator designed for image-based retinal prosthesis. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 56, 2577 (2009).
- 23. T. Tokuda, Y. Takeuchi, Y. Sagawa, T. Noda, K. Sasagawa, K. Nishida, T. Fujikado, and J. Ohta, Development and *in vivo* demonstration of CMOS-based multichip retinal stimulator with simultaneous multisite stimulation capability. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 4, 445 (2010).
- 24. J. Lee, H. Rhew, D. Kipke, and M. Flynn, A 64 channel programmable closed-loop neurostimulator with 8 channel neural amplifier and logarithmic ADC. *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits* 45, 1935 (2010).
- **25.** S. Lee and S. Lee, An implantable wireless bidirectional communication microstimulator for neuromuscular stimulation. *IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers* 52, 2526 (**2005**).
- 26. W. Liu, K. Vichienchom, M. Clements, S. DeMarco, C. Hughes, E. McGucken, M. Humayun, E. Juan, J. Weiland, and R. Greenberg, A neuro-stimulus chip with telemetry unit for retinal prosthetic device. *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits* 35, 1487 (2000).
- P. Livi, F. Heer, U. Frey, D. Bakkum, and A. Hierlemann, Compact voltage and current stimulation buffer for high-density microelectrode arrays. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 4, 372 (2010).
- **28.** M.-D. Ker, C.-Y. Lin, and W.-L. Chen, Stimulus driver for epilepsy seizure suppression with adaptive loading impedance. *J. Neural Engineering* 8 (**2011**).

- 29. C.-Y. Lin, W.-L. Chen, and M.-D. Ker, Implantable stimulator for epileptic seizure suppression with loading impedance adaptability. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* (2012).
- **30.** S. Ethier and M. Sawan, Exponential current pulse generation for efficient very high-impedance multisite stimulation. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 5, 30 (**2011**).
- K. Chen, Z. Yang, L. Hoang, J. Weiland, M. Humayun, and W. Liu, An integrated 256-channel epiretinal prosthesis. *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits* 45, 1946 (2010).
- 32. V. Valente, A. Demosthenous, and R. Bayford, A tripolar currentsteering stimulator ASIC for field shaping in deep brain stimulation. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 6, 197 (2012).
- 33. S. DeMarco, W. Liu, P. Singh, G. Lazzi, M. Humayun, and J. Weiland, An arbitrary waveform stimulus circuit for visual prostheses using a low-area multibias DAC. *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits* 38, 1679 (2003).
- 34. M. Sivaprakasam, W. Liu, G. Wang, J. Weiland, and M. Humayun, Architecture tradeoffs in high-density microstimulators for retinal prosthesis. *IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers* 52, 2629 (2005).
- 35. X. Liu, A. Demosthenous, and N. Donaldson, An integrated implantable stimulator that is fail-safe without off-chip blockingcapacitors. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 2, 231 (2008).
- 36. M. Sivaprakasam, W. Liu, M. Humayun, and J. Weiland, A variable range bi-phasic current stimulus driver circuitry for an implantable retinal prosthetic device. *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits* 40, 763 (2005).
- 37. D. Jiang, A. Demosthenous, T. Perkins, X. Liu, and N. Donaldson, A stimulator ASIC featuring versatile management for vestibular prostheses. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 5, 147 (2011).
- M. Ghovanloo and K. Najafi, A modular 32-site wireless neural stimulation microsystem. *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits* 39, 2457 (2004).
- **39.** M. Ghovanloo and K. Najafi, A compact large voltage-compliance high output-impedance programmable current source for implantable microstimulators. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Engineering* 52, 97 (2005).
- 40. X. Liu, A. Demosthenous, and N. Donaldson, A stimulator output stage with capacitor reduction and failure-checking techniques, *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits and Systems* (2006), pp. 641–644.
- **41.** S. Kelly and J. Wyatt, A power-efficient neural tissue stimulator with energy recovery. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 5, 20 (2011).
- **42.** F. Mounaim and M. Sawan, Toward a fully integrated neurostimulator with inductive power recovery front-end. *IEEE Trans. Biomedical Circuits and Systems* 6, 309 (**2012**).
- 43. C.-Y. Lin, Y.-J. Li, and M.-D. Ker, High-voltage-tolerant stimulator with adaptive loading consideration for electronic epilepsy prosthetic SoC in a 0.18-μm CMOS process, *Proc. IEEE Int. NEWCAS Conf.* (2012), pp. 125–128.